SEP 9 - 2015

No. 91983-6

Received Washington State Supreme Court

Rona

Ild R. Carpenter

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

KAREN A. STEVENSON, Petitioner

v.

DAVID M. CANNING, PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE OF THE ESTATE OF MARY LOUISE CANNING, Respondent

PETITION FOR REVIEW (AMENDED)

COA Nos. 70994-1-I, 71594-1-I, 71794-4-I, & 72026-1-I

On appeal from King County Superior Court Case No. 05-2-16751-3 SEA, the Honorable Laura Gene Middaugh presiding.

> Karen A. Stevenson, pro se 424 21<sup>st</sup> Ave. Seattle, WA 98122 Phone: (206) 860-3701 Kas416@msn.com

#

### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Karen Stevenson, pro se plaintiff in the trial court and appellant in the Court of Appeals, is the Petitioner herein.

## II. CITATION TO THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISIONS

Petitioner seeks review (1) of the order of the Court of Appeals filed March 16, 2015 which denied her motion to modify the ruling of Commissioner Mary Neel filed January 20, 2015; and (2) of the order of the Court of Appeals filed May 26, 2015 denying her motion for reconsideration of the order of the Court of Appeals filed April 7, 2015 that dismissed these consolidated appeals. Copies of the subject orders are attached as Appendix.

### III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether the decisions of the Court of Appeals are in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

Whether the decisions of the Court of Appeals are in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b)(2).

# IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In February 2013, the Court of Appeals filed its mandate in the trial court. CP 18-59. The subject mandate stated that "because the trial court made no findings to support its substantial reduction of the estate

attorney fees and costs request, we vacate the fees and costs judgments and remand for proceedings consistent with this opinion." CP 20.

An order awarding further attorneys' fees to the defendant David Canning, on remand, was entered by the trial court with judgment on May 16, 2013. CP 326-336, 324-325. Stevenson filed a timely CR 59 motion for reconsideration and CR 52(b) motion to amend the findings. CP 370-383. After several successive timely CR 59 motions were denied, Stevenson filed her appeal on September 10, 2013 of the August 12, 2013 order denying her last motion for reconsideration.

After this Court denied discretionary review of a Court of Appeals decision, Commissioner Mary Neel of the appellate court consolidated the three appeals by ruling filed January 20, 2015 and, in No. 70994-1-I, limited review to the trial court order filed August 12, 2013. The commissioner's ruling stated as follows:

A party is allowed 30 days in which to file a notice of appeal. RAP 5.2(a). This time limit can be extended by 10 days by filing a motion for reconsideration. RAP 5.2(a), (e). The judgment/order was filed on May 16, 2013, and the order denying reconsideration was filed on June 4, 2013. A timely notice of appeal of these orders would have been due no later than July 5, 2013. Stevenson did not file a notice of appeal before that date and instead waited until September 11, 2013, when she filed a notice of appeal challenging the August 12, 2013 order. Thus, review in No. 70994-1-I is limited to the August 12, 2013 order. [Emphasis supplied] January 20, 2015 Ruling, at 10.

The appellate court on March 16, 2015 denied Stevenson's motion to modify that ruling; Stevenson's motion for discretionary review of that order was dismissed as moot in a ruling of the commissioner filed August 10, 2015 in No. 91479-6.

TIMELINE	
June 4, 2013	Judge Middaugh files order denying CR 59 motion for reconsideration of May 16, 2013 order and judgment. CP 416-417. (Dkt. No. 510)
June 14, 2013	Stevenson files CR 59 motion for reconsideration of June 4, 2013 order. CP 451-473. (Dkt. No. 524)
June 14, 2013	Judge Middaugh denies June 14 <sup>th</sup> CR 59 motion. CP 449-450. (Dkt. No. 523)
June 24, 2013	Stevenson files CR 59 motion for reconsideration of order filed June 14 <sup>th</sup> . CP 502-514. (Dkt. No. 532)
Aug. 12, 2013	Judge Middaugh denies Stevenson's June 24 <sup>th</sup> CR 59 motion. CP 522. (Dkt. No. 537): "The motions filed under docket number 530 and 532 is denied."

- Stevenson files notice of appeal of Aug. 12th Sept. 11, 2013 order. CP 523-540. (Dkt. No. 538)
- Commissioner Mary Neel of the Court of Appeals Jan. 20, 2015 files her ruling limiting review in No. 70994-1-I to the August 12, 2013 order of the trial court.
- March 16, 2015 The Court of Appeals denies Stevenson's motion to modify the January 20th ruling.

March 26, 2015 Stevenson files motion for discretionary review of the Court of Appeals' interlocutory order.

May 26, 2015 The Court of Appeals denies Stevenson's motion for reconsideration of the order dismissing the appeal.

June 25, 2015 Stevenson files petition for review.

August 10, 2015 The Supreme Court Commissioner dismisses the March 16, 2015 motion for discretionary review.

### V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED IN CONCLUDING
THAT A NOTICE OF APPEAL OF AN ORDER MUST BE
FILED WITHIN 30 DAYS OF ENTRY OF THE TRIAL COURT
ORDER DENYING THE INITIAL CR 59 MOTION FOR
RECONSIDERATION OF THAT ORDER

This Court should grant review and reverse the Court of Appeals because its March 16, 2015 decision and its May 26, 2015 decision are in direct conflict with the decision of the Supreme Court in *State v. Chhom*, 162 Wn. 2nd 451, 173 P. 3d 234 (2007) and with the decision of the Court of Appeals in *Barry v. USAA*, 98 Wn. App. 199, 989 P. 2<sup>nd</sup> 1172 (1999). Commissioner Mary Neel in her ruling filed Jan. 20, 2015 stated as follows:

A party is allowed 30 days in which to file a notice of appeal. RAP 5.2(a). This time limit can be extended by 10 days by filing a motion for reconsideration. RAP 5.2(a), (e). The judgment/order was filed on May 16, 2013, and the order denying reconsideration was filed on June 4, 2013. A timely notice of appeal of these orders would have been due no later than July 5, 2013. Stevenson did not file a notice of appeal

before that date and instead waited until September 11, 2013, when she filed a notice of appeal challenging the August 12, 2013 order. *Thus, review in No. 70994-1-I is limited to the August 12, 2013 order.* [Emphasis supplied] *January 20, 2015 Ruling,* at 10.

The commissioner's ruling in effect was that an order denying a CR 59 motion for reconsideration of an order and judgment does not bring up for review the order and judgment, unless the CR 59 motion was the *initial* CR 59 motion challenging the order and judgment. This mistaken ruling was kept in place by the Court of Appeals. RAP 5.2(e)(1) provides that a notice of appeal of orders "deciding certain timely motions designated in this section" must be filed in the trial court within 30 days after entry of the order deciding the subject timely subsequent motion. In *State v. Brom*, 178 Wn. App. 70, 312 P. 3d 1017 (2013), the Court of Appeals held as follows:

We interpret a court rule as though it were enacted by the legislature, giving effect to its plain meaning as an expression legislative intent. *State v. Chom, 162 Wn. 2<sup>nd</sup> 451, 458, 173 P. 3<sup>rd</sup> 234 (2007).* Plain meaning, in turn, is discerned by "reading the rule as a whole, harmonizing its provisions, and using related rules" to help identify the intent behind its. *Chhom, 162 Wn. 2<sup>nd</sup> at 458.* 

The Court of Appeals commissioner ignored the provision of RAP 5.2(e)(1), by which a notice of appeal of an order denying a motion for reconsideration is not due until 30 days after entry of the order denying a follow-on motion for reconsideration of that order. Where there has been

a follow-on motion for reconsideration, the due date for filing the notice of appeal is 30 days after entry of the trial court order denying the follow-on CR 59 motion. Karl B. Tegland states as follows: "[I]t is possible for a party to move for reconsideration of a court's ruling on a motion for reconsideration." 4 *Washington Practice Series (2013)*, at 557. In *Barry v. USAA*, 98 Wn. App. 199, 203, 989 P. 2<sup>nd</sup> 1172 (1999), the Court of Appeals held as follows:

Nothing in CR 59 leads this court to declare a one-reconsideration limit for trial court decisions.

Ms. Barry's motion for reconsideration. . . was at any rate considered by trial court without challenge.

Clearly, Commissioner Neel, and the Court of Appeals, were incorrect in determining that Stevenson could not timely appeal the May 16, 2013 judgment and order unless the notice of appeal was filed by July 5, 2013. As noted by Karl B. Tegland:

**Reconsideration of reconsideration.** The courts have held that a ruling on a motion for reconsideration is, itself, subject to reconsideration, thus opening the door to multiple motions.

4 Karl B. Tegland, WASHINGTON PRACTICE: RULES PRACTICE (6<sup>th</sup> ed. 2013), at 526.

Commissioner Neel of the Court of Appeals ruled that Stevenson was obliged to file her notice of appeal of the judgment filed May 16, 2013 no

later than July 5, 2013. In so ruling, she declared in effect that a motion for reconsideration of an order denying a motion for reconsideration of a judgment, does not bring up for review the judgment itself. This is tantamount to holding that an order denying a motion for reconsideration of a judgment is not subject to a further motion for reconsideration, and that Stevenson was obliged to file a notice of appeal even while awaiting a decision on her motion for reconsideration - -a position for which the appellate court commissioner cited no authority and for which the Mary Canning Estate provided no authority.

## E. CONCLUSION

Stevenson has shown that the Court of Appeals in its decisions in effect dismissed her appeal of all orders of the trial court entered prior to August 12, 2013, on grounds the appeal was untimely - - ignoring RAP 5.2(e)(1). This decision is in direct conflict with the decision of the Court of Appeals in *Barry v. USAA*, 98 Wn. App. 199, 203, 989 P. 2<sup>nd</sup> 1172 (1999), that there is nothing in CR 59 that limits a party to filing one motion for reconsideration of an given order and it is in direct conflict with the Supreme Court's decision in *State v. Chomm*, 162 Wn. 2<sup>nd</sup> 451, 458, 173 P. 3d 234 (2007) that the plain meaning of a rule must be discerned by reading it as a whole, "harmonizing its provisions, and using related rules" to help identify the intent behind it. Accordingly, review

should be granted and the Court of Appeals should be reversed by this