Received Court

NOV 2 5 2015 Ronald R. Carpen Clerk

NO. 91983-6-

ţ

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### KAREN A. STEVENSON,

Petitioner,

v.

## DAVID M. CANNING, PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE OF THE ESTATE OF MARY LOUISE CANNING,

Respondent.

Court of Appeals, Division I, No. 70994-1-I (consolidated with Nos. 71594-1-I, 71794-4-I, 72026-1-I)

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

LIVENGOOD ALSKOG, PLLC Kevin B. Hansen, WSBA No. 28349

121 Third Avenue P.O. Box 908 Kirkland, WA 98083-0908 Telephone: 425-822-9281 Facsimile: 425-828-0908

Attorneys for Respondent David M. Canning, Personal Representative of the Estate of Mary Louise Canning

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Respondent David M. Canning, personal representative of the Estate of Mary Louise Canning, respectfully requests that the Court deny petitioner Karen Stevenson's amended petition for review. Stevenson's appeal is meritless and she is merely continuing her practice of filing frivolous motions to delay the resolution of this case.

#### **II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

The history of this case began on January 3, 2005, when Stevenson filed a creditor's claim against the Estate of Mary Canning in King County Superior Court Case No. 04-4-05181-6 SEA. As personal representative, Canning denied the claim and Stevenson filed the present lawsuit on May 20, 2005. Stevenson then began a pattern of discovery abuse that ultimately led to the dismissal of her lawsuit.

Stevenson appealed the dismissal of her lawsuit, and Canning cross appealed the trial court's unexplained reduction in the award of attorneys' fees to Canning. In Case No. 64529-3-I, the court of appeals affirmed the dismissal of the lawsuit, determined that her appeal was frivolous, ordered Stevenson to pay sanctions, and remanded to the trial court to reexamine its decisions awarding attorneys' fees. *Stevenson v. Canning*, No. 64529-3-I, 2012 WL 540105 (Feb. 21, 2012), *amended* (Jun. 14, 2012), *rev. denied*, 175 Wn.2d 1016, 287 P.3d 10 (Oct. 10, 2012). CP 20-59. This

1

Court denied Stevenson's petition for review and sanctioned her for a frivolous petition in Case No. 87531-6.<sup>1</sup>

٤

After the mandates on Stevenson's appeals were issued on February 21, 2013 and April 9, 2013 (CP 18-59, 62-64), Canning moved for an award of attorneys' fees on remand and entry of judgment against Stevenson. CP 67-102. Accompanying the motion were a proposed order and proposed judgment. CP 95-102. Although the motion was initially noted for April 24, 2013 (CP 65-66), Canning agreed to continue the hearing for two weeks to May 8, 2013 at the request of Stevenson's attorney. CP 188-89, 228, 281. While Canning's motion was pending, Stevenson paid the attorney's fees awarded by the appellate courts, so Canning submitted a revised proposed order and a revised proposed judgment with his reply brief to reflect those amounts as well as additional time spent preparing the reply. CP 229-43. The reply was filed May 2, six days before the scheduled hearing date. CP 231.

Stevenson responded to the motion for fees by filing a response in opposition (CP 190-228), a declaration (CP 229-30), a supplemental

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Stevenson actually filed seven appeals in 2009, 2010, and 2011, all relating to the dismissal of her lawsuit. They were consolidated to two appeals, Nos. 64529-3-I and 65121-8-I. Pending those appeals, Stevenson filed five separate motions for discretionary review in this Court, Nos. 84619-7, 84617-1, 86095-5, 86125-1, and 87648-7. This Court denied each of the motions and sanctioned Stevenson.

declaration (CP 244-63), and seven separate "objections" (CP 264-79, 283-323, 337-39, 541-44) regarding alleged procedural irregularities.

۱

On May 16, 2013, the trial court granted Canning's motion for fees and entered a supplemental judgment against Stevenson. CP 324-36. Stevenson then began again her *modus operandi* for this litigation, bombarding the trial court with frivolous motions:<sup>2</sup>

- May 20, 2013 motion for ruling on one of her filed "objections." CP 342-46.
- May 21, 2013 motion for ruling on an additional three filed "objections." CP 354-61.
- May 28, 2013 motion for reconsideration of May 16, 2013 order granting Canning's motion for fees and judgment. CP 370-83.
- June 3, 2013 amended motion for reconsideration of May 16, 2013 order granting Canning's motion for fees and May 16, 2013 judgment. CP 393-406.
- June 5, 2013 motion for reconsideration of May 30, 2013 order denying her motion for ruling on "objection." CP 420-27; *cf* CP 389-90.
- June 6, 2013 motion for ruling on her June 3 amended motion for reconsideration. CP 432-38.
- June 10, 2013 motion for reconsideration of May 30, 2013 and June 6, 2013 orders denying her motions for ruling on "objections." CP 545-63; *cf.* CP 389-90, 430-31.
- June 14, 2013 motion for reconsideration of June 4, 2013 order denying her May 28 motion for reconsideration, and for reconsideration of June 11, 2013 order denying her June 3, 2013 amended motion for reconsideration. CP 451-73; *cf.* CP 416-17, 443-44.

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$  A table showing the relevant motions and trial court orders from April 2013 through September 2013 is attached to the Appendix hereto at 1-2.

- June 21, 2013 motion for reconsideration of June 11, 2013 order denying her June 10, 2013 motion for reconsideration. CP 485-99; *cf.* CP 443-44.
- June 24, 2013 motion for reconsideration of June 19, 2013 order denying her June 14, 2013 motion for reconsideration of June 4, 2013 order denying her May 28, 2013 motion for reconsideration and her June 3, 2013 amended motion for reconsideration. CP 502-14.

After the trial court denied the last of this set of motions on August 12,

2013 (CP 522), Stevenson filed a notice of appeal on September 11, 2013.

CP 523-40.

۰,

Stevenson then concentrated her delay tactics at the court of appeals, seeking and obtaining continuances on deadlines for designating clerk's papers and filing her appeal brief. She later returned her attention to the trial court, filing more frivolous motions:<sup>3</sup>

- February 11, 2014 motion to vacate the May 16, 2013 order and judgment. CP 564-74; *cf*. CP 324-36.
- February 12, 2014 amended motion to vacate the May 16, 2013 order and judgment. CP 577-84.
- February 14, 2014 further amended motion to vacate the May 16, 2013 order and judgment. CP 599-606.
- February 18, 2014 motion to strike "the hearing set for February 27, 2014 on defendant['s] . . . CR 11 sanctions request and to strike the sanctions request." CP 937-43; *cf.* 586, 587-98.
- February 18, 2014 motion to strike "the oral hearing set for February 27, 2014." CP 944-45.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> A table of the relevant motions and trial court orders from February 2014 through April 2014 is attached to the Appendix hereto at 3.

- February 20, 2014 motion to vacate the February 13, 2014 order to show cause on Stevenson's February 11, 2014 motion to vacate. CP 948-54; *cf.* CP 585-86.
- February 21, 2014 amended motion to vacate the February 13, 2014 order to show cause on Stevenson's February 11, 2014 motion to vacate. CP 607-12; *cf.* CP 585-86.

On February 27, 2014, the trial court held an in-court hearing on Stevenson's motion to vacate. Stevenson did not appear. In its order filed February 28, the court denied the motion to vacate and all of Stevenson's other pending motions, finding that the motion was "frivolous in violation of CR 11." CP 614. The court noted that in its order to show cause, it "informed [Stevenson] that from its assessment from the face of [the] pleadings that [*sic*] the Court found the motion to be frivolous," thereby putting Stevenson "on notice that the issue of CR 11 sanctions could be addressed at the hearing." CP 615. Further, the court ruled that "[i]n order to avoid the potential for further costs incurred by the defendant and sanctions in the form of attorney's fees imposed against the plaintiff, the defendant is not required to respond to any motion filed by the plaintiff unless the court requests a response from the defendant." CP 616.

Undaunted by the trial court's decision, Stevenson filed another notice of appeal on March 5, 2014, CP 652-54, and successfully moved to consolidate the two appeals. Stevenson's barrage of frivolous trial court motions then resumed:

- March 10, 2014 motion to amend the February 28, 2014 order. CP 676-92.
- March 21, 2014 motion for reconsideration of the March 19, 2014 order denying her March 10, 2014 motion to amend. CP 1009-20; *cf.* CP 1002.
- March 27, 2014 motion to vacate the February 28, 2014 order denying her February 11, 2014 motion to vacate and February 28, 2014 supplemental judgment in favor of Canning. CP 1026-31; *cf.* CP 613-17, 984-85.
- April 1, 2014 amended motion to vacate the February 28, 2014 order denying her February 11, 2014 motion to vacate and February 28, 2014 supplemental judgment in favor of Canning. CP 1034-43; *cf.* CP 613-17, 984-85.
- April 9, 2014 amended motion to vacate the February 28, 2014 order denying her February 11, 2014 motion to vacate and February 28, 2014 supplemental judgment in favor of Canning. Appendix at A-000001 A-000009.
- May 16, 2014 motion to vacate the May 16, 2013 order and judgment. Appendix at A-000010 A-000030; *cf.* CP 324-36.

On April 16, 2014, the trial court ruled on Stevenson's motions.

Appendix at A-000031 – A-000032. After summarizing Stevenson's motions since the May 16, 2013 order awarding fees, the court found that Stevenson "has filed numerous and repetitive motions dealing with the same issues. The orders that she has been addressing in these repetitive motions are apparently the subject of two pending appeals." Appendix at

A-000032. The court then ruled as follows:

As a matter for judicial economy, fairness and mootness, the trial Court will not consider any motions from the plaintiff, and the plaintiff shall not file any motions, on or about pleadings filed prior to the date of this order unless a matter relating to that pleading is remanded to the trial court by an appellate court. The Court will not consider and the plaintiff shall not file a motion for reconsideration of this Order. Should the plaintiff file a motion in violation of this order, the defendant does not have to respond to such motion and the motion is deemed denied. Plaintiff's motion filed on 4/9/11 [*sic*] is moot as it was previously ruled upon and the court will not rule upon the issues again.

Appendix at 000032. Stevenson filed a notice of appeal regarding various trial court actions or inactions on April 17, 2014, and an amended notice of appeal on May 6, 2014 regarding her September 11, 2013 notice. Appendix at A-000033 – A-000062 & A-000063 – A-000067.

#### **IV. ARGUMENT**

#### A. The court of appeals did not in dismissing Stevenson's appeal.

Stevenson is correct that CR 59 does not expressly limit the number of motions for reconsideration except in circumstances not present here.<sup>4</sup> Apparently she believes that gives her free rein to file frivolous pleadings. She is wrong. CR 1 provides that the civil rules must be "construed and administered to secure the just, speedy, and inexpensive determination of every action." CR 59 does not expressly limit the number of motions for reconsideration because every motion filed with the court is subject to CR 11(a), which prohibits the conduct Stevenson flaunts:

 $<sup>^4</sup>$  CR 59(j) provides that if a motion for reconsideration "is made and heard before the entry of the judgment, no further motion may be made" without the court's permission. Here, Stevenson's flood of motions began after entry of the judgment.

... A party who is not represented by an attorney shall sign and date the party's . . . motion . . . . The signature of a party . . . constitutes a certificate by the party . . . that the party . . . has read the . . . motion . . . , and that to the best of the party's . . . knowledge, information, and belief, formed after an inquiry reasonable under the circumstances: (1) it is well grounded in fact; (2) it is warranted by existing law or a good faith argument for the extension, modification, or reversal of existing law or the establishment of new law; (3) it is not interposed for any improper purpose, such as to harass or to cause unnecessary delay or needless increase in the cost of litigation . . .

In her motion for reconsideration of the court's May 16, 2013 order granting fees, Stevenson argued the following grounds: "Misconduct of prevailing party (and counsel), CR 59(a)(2); irregularity in the proceedings and abuse of discretion by which Stevenson was prevented from having a fair trial, CR 59(a)(1); and surprise, CR 59(a)(3). (Also, CR 59(h) alteration or amendment.)" CP 371. She claimed that Canning's attorney engaged in misconduct by falsely implying that Judge Washington had only considered certain documents; by contending that Judge Washington's findings on the reasonableness of the hourly rates and number of hours spent were verities by Stevenson's failure to challenge them on appeal or on remand; by not asking Judge Middaugh to review Judge Washington's working papers; by "concealing" that Judge Washington had ruled that \$5,000 was a reasonable award of attorney's fees; by "deceiv[ing]" the court about what the mandates after appeal required; by not obtaining a case scheduling order; and by requesting additional fees for the time required to prepare his reply brief. CP 371-81.

When the court denied the motion, Stevenson moved for reconsideration of the order. CP 451-73. This time she made no attempt to tie her motion to the grounds for reconsideration, other than to simply cite to CR 59 as "[a]uthority." In this motion for reconsideration of the order denying her motion for reconsideration, she returned to the same arguments used in her first motion, CP 458-62. She also argued that the trial court and Canning failed to comply with CR 54 by not timely providing her with a proposed order and judgment. CP 453-58.

The court denied the second motion and Stevenson filed a motion for reconsideration of the order denying her motion for reconsideration of the order denying her motion for reconsideration. CP 502-10. Again she made no attempt to tie her arguments to CR 59, and again argued that Canning failed to timely provide her with a copy of the proposed judgment. CP 505-09.

Neither these particular repeated motions for reconsideration nor Stevenson's many other motions to the trial court came close to complying with CR 11(a). A party should not be able to artificially extend the timeline for filing an appeal by repeated, frivolous motions for reconsideration, especially motions that do not even attempt to identify which grounds for reconsideration are at issue. Under RAP 5.2(e), a notice of appeal is timely if filed within 30 days after entry of an order on "amotion for reconsideration" (emphasis added). The order that Stevenson wants reviewed on appeal was entered May 16, 2013. Stevenson timely moved for reconsideration of the order and judgment on May 28, 2013. The trial court's order denying the motion was filed on June 4, 2013. To appeal the June 4 order denying the motion for reconsideration and the May 16 order granting fees, the deadline under RAP 5.2(e) was July 5, 2013. That is the plain reading of the rule; to read it differently would condone Stevenson's conduct.

*Barry v. USAA*, 98 Wn. App. 199, 989 P.2d 1172 (1999) does not compel a different result. There, the trial court ordered USAA to produce documents for an *in camera* inspection. *Id.* at 202. The court then granted USAA's motion for reconsideration. A week later, the plaintiff moved for reconsideration of the order granting USAA's motion for reconsideration. When the court denied the plaintiff's motion, the plaintiff sought discretionary review. *Id.* at 202-03. On appeal, USAA argued that the appeal was untimely because the notice of discretionary review was filed more than 30 days after the trial court's first order on reconsideration. The court of appeals disagreed "that only one motion for reconsideration per case is contemplated in CR 59." *Id.* at 203. In *Barry*, each party filed a *single* motion for reconsideration relating to a single trial court decision. In contrast, here Stevenson filed *three* motions for reconsideration of the trial court's order on attorney's fees (and numerous other repeated motions for reconsideration and motions to vacate).

If the Court denies review, this case will be over. If the Court grants review and reverses the court of appeals' dismissal of Stevenson's appeal, Stevenson will be emboldened to further extend this litigation indefinitely. This case is more than 10 years old – it is time to put an end to it.

## B. The Court should award Canning his reasonable attorneys' fees in responding to Stevenson's petition.

Stevenson's petition is part of a pattern of filing frivolous pleadings before the trial court, the court of appeals, and this Court, clearly with the sole purpose of prolonging this litigation as long as possible to damage the estate. In denying two of Stevenson's earlier motions for discretionary review on August 9, 2010, Supreme Court Commissioner Goff stated that there was "no tenable basis under RAP 13.5(b) for this court to grant review or modify any of the decisions under review" and concluded:

Apparently a request for sanctions will likely be addressed by the Court of Appeals panel that decides the case. With that in mind, I note that Ms. Stevenson's motions to this court present nothing even minimally resembling a basis for review. Indeed, the only action by this court which may become appropriate, if Ms. Stevenson continues her campaign of ill-conceived filings that require the attention of opposing counsel and the court, is the imposition of sanctions under RAP 18.9. I therefore urge Ms. Stevenson to abandon this misguided litigation strategy.

Supreme Court Nos. 84617-1 & 84619-7 (CP 57). A year later, responding

to another motion on August 5, 2011, Commissioner Goff referred to his

earlier ruling and wrote:

I therefore urged Ms. Stevenson to abandon this misguided litigation strategy. Plainly she has not taken that advice to heart, but instead has flooded the Court of Appeals with new pleadings.

Supreme Court Nos. 86095-5 & 86126-1. This time Commissioner Goff

awarded sanctions. Stevenson's conduct in this litigation has been

repeatedly sanctioned, so far to no effect. For example, the Court of

Appeals stated:

This is a second appeal from a trial court order dismissing Stevenson's lawsuit for willful and deliberate refusal to attend her deposition. Without reasonable excuse or justification, Stevenson failed to appear three times for a deposition and flagrantly ignored three orders to compel her deposition. Even resolving all doubts in favor of Stevenson, we conclude that this appeal raises no debatable issues on which reasonable minds could differ. As discussed above, none of her numerous contentions undermine the discovery sanction dismissal order. Rather, they illustrate Stevenson's pattern of abusive and frivolous litigation. This appeal is frivolous, and sanctions are warranted in the amount of \$5,000.

CP 57-58 (footnote markers omitted). In a footnote, the Court of Appeals

observed:

Stevenson's frivolous litigation conduct here is even more egregious given that a previous court entered a default order and judgment against Stevenson and James Canning as a sanction based on willful and deliberate refusal to comply with the court's order to comply with discovery in unrelated litigation. *Delany*, 84 Wn. App. at 508. Stevenson was well aware of the risks posed by her litigation tactics in this case, yet she persisted undeterred by prior sanctions.

CP 58.

This Court also repeatedly sanctioned Stevenson. For example, in its October 10, 2012 order denying Stevenson's petition for review in No. 87531-6, the Court ordered her "to pay additional sanctions in the amount of \$500 to the Respondent and \$500 to the Supreme Court." In its January 9, 2013 order denying Stevenson's petition for review in No. 87785-8, the Court ordered her "to pay a sanction in the amount of \$1,000 to the Court." Stevenson has paid all of the sanctions against her, but they have had no effect on her conduct.

Pursuant to RAP 18.1 and the promissory notes at issue in this lawsuit (CP 128-35), Canning requests that the Court order Stevenson to pay his attorneys' fees incurred in responding to her petition for review. In any lawsuit based on a contract that provides for attorneys' fees, "reasonable fees shall be awarded to the prevailing party." *Metro. Mortgage & Sec. Co. v. Becker*, 64 Wn. App. 626, 632, 825 P.2d 360 (1992). The court's discretion is "limited to deciding the amount of

13

reasonable fees." *Id*. The promissory notes provide for attorneys' fees to the holder of the note (CP 128-35), which under RCW 4.84.330 is made reciprocal.

.

The fact that Canning has taken the position that the notes are invalid does not affect his right to fees under RCW 4.84.330. *Herzog Aluminum, Inc. v. Gen. Am. Window Corp.*, 39 Wn. App. 188, 197, 692 P.2d 867 (1984) ("[W]e conclude that the broad language . . . in RCW 4.84.330 encompasses any action in which it is alleged that a person is liable on a contract.").

Should the Court agree that Stevenson should pay for Canning's fees, Canning will submit an affidavit pursuant to RAP 18.1(d).

#### V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Canning respectfully requests that the Court deny Stevenson's petition for review and award him attorneys' fees. Respectfully submitted this 24<sup>th</sup> day of November, 2015

LIVENGOOD ALSKOG, PLLC

Kevin B. Hansen, WSBA #28349 Attorneys for David M. Canning 121 Third Avenue P.O. Box 908 Kirkland, WA 98083-0908 425-822-9281 425-828-0908 (fax)